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The Joint Subcommittee on Public Safety/Natural Resources/Transportation of 
the Senate Committee on Finance and the Assembly Committee on Ways and 
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March 20, 2009, in Room 2134 of the Legislative Building, Carson City, 
Nevada. Exhibit A is the Agenda. Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. All exhibits 
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SENATE SUBCOMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Senator Joyce Woodhouse, Chair 
Senator Bob Coffin 
Senator Dean A. Rhoads 
 
ASSEMBLY SUBCOMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Assemblywoman Kathy McClain, Chair 
Assemblyman Joseph M. Hogan, Vice Chair 
Assemblyman Marcus Conklin 
Assemblyman Pete Goicoechea 
Assemblywoman Ellen Koivisto 
Assemblywoman Sheila Leslie 
 
STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Tracy Raxter, Principal Deputy Fiscal Analyst 
Eric King, Program Analyst 
Mark Krmpotic, Senior Program Analyst 
Cynthia Clampitt, Committee Secretary 
 
OTHERS PRESENT: 
 
Kenneth E. Mayer, M.S., Director, Nevada Department of Wildlife 
Dave Prather, Administrative Services Officer, Nevada Department of Wildlife 
Rob Buonamici, Chief Game Warden, Department of Wildlife 
Dave Pulliam, Chief, Habitat Division, Department of Wildlife 
Richard L. Haskins II, Deputy Director, Department of Wildlife 
Susan G. Martinovich, P.E., Director, Nevada Department of Transportation 
Robert D. Chisel, Assistant Director, Administration, Nevada Department of 

Transportation 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We are under time constraints this morning. Please keep your testimony 
concise. We will open the hearing on the Department of Wildlife (NDOW), 
budget account (B/A) 101-4452. 
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INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
WILDLIFE 
 
Wildlife - Administration – Budget Page WILDLIFE-1 (Volume III) 
Budget Account 101-4452 
 
KENNETH E. MAYER, M.S. (Director, Nevada Department of Wildlife): 
My division chiefs are present if you have specific program questions. 
Mr. Dave Prather will present our budgets. 
 
DAVE PRATHER (Administrative Services Officer, Nevada Department of Wildlife): 
We have provided a packet of information concerning the four NDOW budgets 
(Exhibit C, original is on file in the Research Library). 
 
The budget reductions taken in fiscal year (FY) 2008-2009 are found on 
page 26 of Exhibit C. None of the reductions were carried forward into the 
2009-2011 biennium. 
 
Pages 27 and 28 of Exhibit C depict how the General Fund reductions for 
FY 2009-2010 and FY 2010-2011 were accomplished, broken out by division. 
The narrative begins on page 29 of Exhibit C. Currently the NDOW uses 
General Fund allocations to fund the Nuisance Wildlife Program. The 
General Fund allocations are also used to fund the State Wildlife Grants 
providing matching funds at the 50-percent level. The General Fund is used to 
match the Endangered Species Conservation Fund (Section 6), or 
Endangered Species Grants. Those are matched at the 25-percent level. The 
impact of the individual budget cuts is described on pages 30 through 34 of 
Exhibit C. 
 
Page 35 of Exhibit C addresses the additional budget cuts in revenue received 
from the Nevada Commission on Tourism (NCOT). The NCOT typically transfers 
$300,000 to the NDOW to support the agency’s marketing Website and 
volunteer programs. That revenue was eliminated from our budget in the 
upcoming biennium. 
 
Page 36 of Exhibit C lists the E-670 series decision units, including the 
Spending and Government Efficiency (SAGE) Commission recommendations. 
 
E-670 Temporary 6% Salary Reduction – Page WILDLIFE-9 
 
E-671 Suspend Merit Salary Inc for FY10 & FY11 – Page WILDLIFE-10 
 
E-672 Suspend Longevity for FY10 & FY11 – Page WILDLIFE-11 
 
E-673 Implement SAGE Commission Recommendation – Page WILDLIFE-12 
 
The other decision units begin on page 47 of Exhibit C. Decision unit E-251 is 
the NDOW’s request for authority to hire an additional deputy director position. 
 
E-251 Working Environment and Wage – Page WILDLIFE-6 
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Decision unit E-258 requests funding for the cost implementation and ongoing 
support for the license agent and Point of Sale Program.  
   
E-258 Working Environment and Wage – Page WILDLIFE-7 
 
Decision unit E-901 is the request to transfer the Water Development Program 
from B/A 101-4458, which will be discussed later, to the Wildlife Administration 
budget, B/A 101-4452. 
 
The Water Development Program is funded primarily from grant dollars and 
in-kind match funds. It is not appropriately housed in the reserve account. 
Those accounts are treated separately and none of the reserve program dollars 
impact the Water Development Program. We are requesting the transfer. 
 
E-901 Trans Water Dev from Obligated Reserve to Admin – Page WILDLIFE-14 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN GOICOECHEA: 
Is there any General Fund revenue in decision unit E-901? 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
Yes, there is. The Water Development Program is funded from public relation 
revenue and matched with in-kind funds for the Wildlife Water Guzzlers funds. 
 
SENATOR RHOADS: 
I recently heard in the news media that the NDOW received $12 million from 
the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA). Is that true? What are 
the intended uses of those funds? 
 
MR. MAYER: 
Everyone is thinking the ARRA when they hear the term “additional funding.” 
The approximately $12 million is an attempt on the part of the NDOW to thank 
the sportsmen for their annual contribution to the Department. This is not new 
money. There is an increase of approximately $450,000 in the allocations from 
gun and ammunition sales. I have had many phone calls congratulating us on 
the misunderstood source of funding. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Is Nuisance Wildlife funding entirely eliminated? How will the NDOW respond to 
phone calls concerning bears and other nuisance wildlife? 
 
MR. MAYER: 
The funding is not completely gone. We will still conduct public service 
announcements and those kinds of outreach. We will not have the ability to 
send our wildlife biologist to meet with community leaders and to talk to 
individuals with bears raiding their garbage cans. If the bear or lion is in the 
cabin, we will answer the call and remove the wildlife. Public safety will be 
protected. We will continue to collect data from animals dispatched under those 
situations. Public information and outreach will be eliminated. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Will the NDOW need the entire contingency allocation for this program? 
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MR. MAYER: 
Nevada is receiving late-season snow storms. That means good vegetation 
growth for things such as berries. When we have had the worst problems, the 
conditions were extremely dry. The bears will not just roll over and die. They 
will gravitate to where food can be found. That is often in individuals’ cabins or 
trash. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
The Subcommittee is concerned with the movement of programs in 
nonGeneral Fund sources. What other programs, besides the Nuisance Wildlife 
Program, are going to suffer from the removal of General Fund allocations? 
 
MR. MAYER: 
I look at General Fund allocations as “vanilla-flavored money” that can be used 
for a variety of programs. Those funds will be replaced with hunting and fishing 
revenues from the federal allocations which have certain restrictions.  
 
For example, under the Wildlife Diversity Program, instead of collecting data on 
pigmy rabbits which might become listed as an endangered species, the 
biologists will have more general habitat duties. Those species are in the Wildlife 
Action Plan. It will incorporate both game and nongame species to pass the 
qualifications for federal funding. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Will the sage grouse conservation efforts continue to be funded sufficiently? 
 
MR. MAYER: 
The allocated General Fund revenue was an enhancement to the base project 
efforts for sage grouse. We have Question 1 (Q1) Bond revenue to use as a 
match. I am actively working to garner federal funding to increase the 
sage grouse efforts. 
 
There is a state and federal Directors’ Council scheduled in April 2009, to 
initiate a partnership to manage sagebrush ecosystems. Sage grouse is at the 
top of the list for species to be considered. Are we doing the best we could? 
No, more funding is needed. We are continuing to work on that important 
species. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Your ending reserve balance is fairly significant. Could some of the reserve 
funds be allocated to the programs? Is that because the reserve funds contain 
federal allocations? 
 
MR. MAYER: 
Mr. Prather will explain. The reserve account is a combination of cash and 
federal authority, which does not translate to funding. 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
The NDOW reserve balance is higher than in the past for a couple of reasons. 
The Executive Summary on page 23 of Exhibit C breaks out the federal and 
nonfederal funding. The reserve account currently includes over $3 million in 
federal funds. The decision units eliminated from the budget created that 
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situation because they included federal funding. As the budget was being built, 
there were small budget reductions in FY 2007-2008 and they grew larger in 
fiscal year (FY) 2008-2009. They are quite large in FY 2009-2010 and 
FY 2010-2011. 
 
We used a regression model to project our license and fee revenue, recognizing 
that to be the most scientific method of projecting the budget. At the same 
time, we understand the current economy. We are not confident the numbers 
will remain the same. They may increase based upon our neighbors to the east. 
Utah just completed a record year for game applications. We wanted to play it 
safe in the decision units that were eliminated, such as equipment, information 
technology and vehicles. When the projections are realized and the NDOW has 
the reserve required for its cash flow purposes, reserve beyond that, including 
the reserved federal funds, can be spent. We would return to the Interim 
Finance Committee (IFC) as those situations make themselves clear. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
Decision unit E-251 requests the new deputy director position. Please explain 
how adding the position would help your programs and the financial 
requirements. What are the advantages to the NDOW? 
 
MR. MAYER: 
The NDOW consists of:  
 

· Seven divisions,  
 

· Seven budget accounts, 
 

· Total funding of approximately $70 million, 
  

· 102 distinct funding sources, 
 

· 242 full-time equivalent (FTE) employees, 
 

· 40 seasonal employees, 
 

· 100s of volunteers, 
 

· 160 license agents statewide, 
 

· Maintains 127 facilities in 23 different geographical areas and 
 

· Has a small air force of two helicopters and a fixed wing aircraft that flew 
approximately 1,000 hours for survey work. 

 
The agency is complex. We review over 2,500 environmental documents. 
Twenty-five years ago, environmental document reviews were a small amount 
of our work, but the structure of the agency is roughly the same as it was then. 
Nevada is 87-percent federally owned. We are in constant coordination with our 
federal partners. We are responsible for collecting the data to provide input on 
hunting and fishing seasons and bag limits for all game species. We are required 
to implement the Wildlife Action Plan. We are responsible for the Q1 Bond 
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Program, the Wildlife Geographic Information System Statewide Database, the 
Landowner Incentive Program, and the Endangered Species Act coordination 
and implementation. 
 
We have a group of fully staffed and accredited law enforcement officers. They 
are often the only law enforcement available in rural areas.  
 
We are proud of the fact we have over 300 volunteer hunter safety coordinators 
who teach over 3,500 students each year. We have a public information officer 
group that is second to none. They provide over 200 news releases each year, 
520 radio programs and 104 weekly television programs. 
 
All of that is the responsibility of one director and one deputy director. The sixth 
page from the back of Exhibit C lists the duties and responsibilities of the 
proposed deputy director. I have worked in my position as director for 
two years. The last two directors resigned because of health issues. My goal, 
similar to other State agencies, is to split the deputy director responsibilities into 
fiscal and administrative services; and division operations and field programs. 
There are currently 43 different duties being performed by 
Deputy Director Richard L. Haskins II, who is an employee of more than 
30 years. There are many functions contained in the fiscal responsibilities. Not 
enough time is available for working on the program issues and spending time in 
the field. We are members of a national association for fish and wildlife 
agencies. We must track both federal and State legislation. I would focus 
Mr. Haskins on the programs side and hire the new deputy director for fiscal 
and administrative functions. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
I want to return to reserve balances for a moment. There were 
42 work program revisions processed through the IFC in 2008. It would make 
more sense to see the agency plans in the Executive Budget. If funding was not 
available at the end of the year, the proposed new vehicle(s) would not be 
purchased. It is better identified in the budget than on a consent agenda 
somewhere down the road. 
 
MR. MAYER: 
We took a different approach. I would rather know how much money I had in 
the bank account before we started making purchases. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
One of the questions asked when work programs are presented to the IFC is 
“Why was this item/request not in the Executive Budget?” Please work with our 
staff to make the adjustments. 
 
MR. MAYER: 
We put together a wish list in 2008. When funding was identified, expenditures 
were made from the wish list. We will work with your staff. 
 
SENATOR RHOADS: 
It is my opinion having the sage grouse listed as an endangered species is a 
most dangerous consideration. Please provide the Subcommittee with the 
amount of funds that would be necessary, in addition to what is included in the 
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Executive Budget, to adequately support the mining, livestock and wildlife on 
this issue. 
 
MR. MAYER: 
We will provide the cost for a full program to the Subcommittee. I am excited 
about the partnership with Utah in the Partnership for Conservation and 
Development. All the state and federal agencies have formed a partnership. 
More than 1,000 projects were completed in 2008. No lawsuits were received 
for the western watersheds. More than one million acres have been treated. We 
are trying to institute the same thing in Nevada. The first meeting is 
April 24, 2009. We received funding from the State Lands Division Q1 Bond 
funds to hire the planner/facilitator who completed the Utah work. I hope to 
leverage funding from the participating agencies to move forward collectively on 
the sage grouse issue rather than individual projects. 
 
SENATOR RHOADS: 
When will the decision to list the sage grouse be made? 
 
MR. MAYER: 
The decision was supposed to have been made in December 2008. We are 
waiting for the scientific monograph to be released in perhaps July or 
August 2009. An unwarranted preliminary finding was issued. That places 
pressure for signing on the new administration. Then there will likely be a 
lawsuit filed. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
Is there a shortage of sage grouse? 
 
MR. MAYER: 
That is correct.  
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
Were those not just imported 60 years ago from Pakistan? 
 
MR. MAYER: 
You are referring to chukars. 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN GOICOECHEA: 
Please return to the Nuisance Wildlife Program. It is not so much a case of the 
NDOW budget reductions. The bears and lions will be taken care of. There are a 
number of other nuisance wildlife callouts upon which the NDOW will be turning 
their backs. The real issue we face is with the reductions in Wildlife Services in 
the NDOW is the possibility that someone will be injured. The Wildlife Services 
budget is being reduced by 50 percent. The NDOW budgets are being reduced. 
Suddenly the State, whether it is the NDOW or the Department of Agriculture, 
does not have the ability to respond. That gives me concern. 
 
MR. MAYER: 
We allocate $40,000 annually to Wildlife Services to conduct nuisance wildlife 
intervention on our behalf. That will continue. In the larger context, you are 
correct. We will ask the counties to assume a larger role. There will be people 
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with situations such as raccoons in their basements. I do not know where they 
can turn for help. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Was the Nuisance Wildlife Program being funded from General Fund allocations? 
 
MR. MAYER: 
That is correct. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
There was not much appetite from this Subcommittee to collapse the NCOT and 
the Nevada Commission on Economic Development into one agency. If those 
budgets are restored, there is a possibility the NDOW could continue to receive 
the allocation. 
 
MR. MAYER: 
We would be back in business. For the past two years, we have gone before 
the IFC requesting contingency funding of $40,000 to $50,000 because of the 
rate at which we have received nuisance bear calls. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
If the funding were restored, would it be used for the Nuisance Wildlife 
Program? 
 
MR. MAYER: 
That is our intent. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
Considering the number of funding sources and activities in this account, how 
would the NDOW recommend restructuring your budget to facilitate and 
improve your financial operations? 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
The NDOW has considered splitting B/A 101-4452 in various ways. We have 
worked with the Budget and Planning Division (Budget Division) of the 
Department of Administration and the Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) staff. 
 
There are three primary issues that have kept us from moving forward in this 
area. The split is more complicated.  
 

· The Department and each of its divisions share funding sources.  
 

· The division personnel are also shared across the divisions. Our biologists 
have duties within many divisions.  

 
· The most significant issue is cash flow. The NDOW does not receive 

revenue regularly throughout the year. From November through March, no 
license or fee funds are received. Our revenue is used to match federal 
funds. As those are drawn, it creates a complex management function. 

 
Having all the divisions within one budget account allows the NDOW more 
flexibility to operate the programs. Although we operate at a greatly reduced 
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level during winter, the funding map gives us the opportunity to manage our 
programs. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Are there 36 separate revenue sources that cannot be commingled? 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
There are more than 60 revenue sources in B/A 101-4452. You are looking at 
our 36 general ledgers (GLs). There are multiple grants within many of the GLs. 
The federal government requires its funding allocations to be managed at the 
project level. As an example, the Federal Aid in Wildlife Restoration Act of 1937 
(Pittman-Robertson) funds appear to be one funding source in the 
Executive Budget. It is actually multiple-funding sources for various programs. 
Each program must be managed independently. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Does the NDOW feel it is operating as efficiently as possible, given the 
circumstances? 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
We initiated an organization and suborganization account breakdown in 2007. 
We have had audits from the Office of the Inspector General, the LCB and the 
Department of Administration. They have all approved our internal accounting 
structure.  
 
The larger issue is the agency is required to utilize project-based accounting 
which does not translate well into the Nevada Executive Budget System (NEBS). 
The NEBS only provides information at the more general levels of the budget 
detail. We have discussed how to structure the budget to be more transparent 
and to more easily identify detail.  
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We will close the hearing on B/A 101-4452 and open the hearing on 
B/A 101-4456, the Wildlife Boating Program. 
 
Wildlife - Boating Program – Budget Page WILDLIFE-18 (Volume III) 
Budget Account 101-4456 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
The executive summary of this budget account is found on page 42 of 
Exhibit C. The revenue and expenditures are located on pages 43 and 44.  The 
NDOW has requested three decision units in this budget. 
 
Decision unit E-325 requests the authority for boating access improvements. 
This request would utilize existing federal funding. The federal funding is in 
danger of reversion if it is not used. These projects have been earmarked. The 
Nevada Division of State Parks (NDSP) would provide the matching funds. From 
the NDOW perspective, we would be maximizing the utilization of the federal 
Dingell-Johnson funds for the projects. 
 
E-325 Services at Level Closest to People – Page WILDLIFE-20 
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CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Does the NDSP have the funding to provide? Their budgets have been fairly 
decimated. 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
According to the NDSP, they are fully prepared to move forward with the 
projects. I believe the authority is established in their budget. 
 
MR. MAYER: 
The NDSP are using Q1 Bond funding for this purpose. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Will the prior-year federal allocations be utilized or will funds be reverted to the 
federal government? 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
The boating access projects are moving forward as quickly as possible. 
Ms. Theresa Jarrett manages that program. She has indicated if things go 
according to plan, the projects should be completed and no funds should be 
reverted. That is not a guarantee. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Do the projects include docks at Bishop Creek Dam and Sand Harbor? Is 
anything included for Lake Mead with its low water levels? 
 
ROB BUONAMICI (Chief Game Warden, Department of Wildlife): 
There are projects scheduled for Lake Mead. They include work on docks and 
sewage pumping facilities. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Are the docks being placed at the edge of the current water level? 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
They may be placed at the water level projected for two years in the future. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
How do you determine when boats should be replaced? Are the outboard 
motors being requested as replacements for existing boats, or will they be 
equipped on new boats? Why are laptop computers being requested instead of 
desktop computers? Are the computers taken out on the boats? 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
The replacement schedule for boats is approximately ten years for the 
Boston Whalers. As with personal vehicles, some last longer than others. We 
inspect the vessels for stress cracks and hull fractures and consider the overall 
safety of each boat. They must be safe for use in emergency response work 
such as fatal boat accidents and boating rescues. We also consider replacement 
costs versus repair costs. Sometimes repair efforts are not cost effective. 
 
The motors being requested are replacement motors for existing vessels. On 
average, the motors are reliable from 1,000 to 1,200 hours of operation. Costs 
for repairs typically exceed the cost of a new motor. 
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CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Do volunteers continue to assist with lake patrols? 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
Yes, there are volunteers from the U.S. Power Squadron and the National Park 
Service funded from Clark County boating funds. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Please address the need for other equipment which has been requested. Explain 
how the new purchases will accomplish the goals of the agency. 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
The goal of the laptop computer request is to keep our officers in the field as 
much as possible. The laptops will not be used on the boats. They will be used 
in the vehicles. When officers are in the field, they can process paperwork 
without driving approximately 30 miles to an office to complete the work. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Do you have wireless computer connections? 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
We do not have funding for complete wireless access at this time. Having the 
forms templates loaded on the laptop computers allows the officer to complete 
the forms in the field. It enhances our efficiency. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Please explain the request for operating under the influence (OUI) equipment. 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
The OUI equipment requested is replacements for outdated breathalyzers. The 
breathalyzers are no longer working at the proper standards. They need 
recalibration more frequently. Substandard equipment may eventually cause us 
problems in court cases. It is a normal replacement schedule request. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Please explain the federal mandate to be narrow-band compliant by 2013. 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
The Forestry Conservation Communication Association mandates narrow-band 
compliance for all law enforcement agencies. The NDOW is updating its 
26 repeater systems throughout the State. All NDOW officers are dispatched 
from Reno Dispatch. Our biologists also use the Reno Dispatch services for their 
safety. It is a good system. However, it is aging and in need of repair and 
upgrades. We also must comply with the federal mandate. We hope to address 
both issues at one time. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Does the NDOW plan to accomplish the changes in the 2009-2011 biennium? 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
Most tasks will be completed during the 2009-2011 biennium. The repeaters 
and law enforcement vehicle upgrades can be accomplished in that time frame. 
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The downside is there are a multitude of biologist and administration services 
vehicles with radios. Those radios are not narrow-band compliant at this time. 
An additional $240,000 would be required to upgrade those radios.  
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Will the needed funding come from the federal Dingall-Johnson funds? 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
The Dingall-Johnson funds are not included in this budget account. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Are you aware of whether or not the Dingall-Johnson funding will remain in the 
federal budgets? 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
I do not believe those funds will be eliminated in the near future. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
What is the current safety level on Lake Mead? The ground is showing in many 
places on the lake. Are people being more careful? 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
More vessels are running into shallow-water rocks which are barely under the 
water’s surface. Overall, no major changes have occurred. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Are the shallow-water rock areas marked in any way? 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
Buoys can be used to mark such areas. However, the water level fluctuates 
greatly. Marking the danger areas may result in greater liability for the State. If 
one danger marking is missing and the public expectation is that all danger areas 
are marked, it may create legal liability. Lake Mead and the surrounding areas of 
Lake Mohave and the Colorado River cover a large area. It is nearly impossible 
to mark all the danger areas. We address the problem through public education 
and dock signage at the lakes. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
Before we proceed to the next budget, there are some questions on bond sale 
proceeds. We need detailed answers in relation to Senate Bill (S.B.) 146. 
 
SENATE BILL 146: Provides funding to the Department of Wildlife for certain 

projects. 
 
Please explain the duties and responsibilities of the position created by this 
legislation. Describe how the proposed position would further the goals and 
objectives of the program. 
 
DAVE PULLIAM (Chief, Habitat Division, Department of Wildlife): 
The position being requested in S.B. 146 is a coordination position that would 
take the lead in coordinating federal and State agencies involved in the 
preservation of sagebrush and ecosystem health. For the last 
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one and one-half years, Nevada has reviewed a similar successful program in 
Utah. We would establish a Nevada program. It has been suggested the 
program would not be successful without a high-level staff person coordinating 
the efforts. 
 
We are initiating the partnership with federal and State agencies involved in 
resource management in late April. The position will be integral in successful 
program implementation. It would address rangeland and habitat conditions 
relative to wildfires. The Great Basin Sagebrush Ecosystem has been identified 
as one of the most imperiled ecosystems in the nation. Concerns include fire 
regimes, cheatgrass invasion and the lack of productivity of the ecological sites. 
From our perspective, the end result will only lead to more endangered species 
listings which will impact our ability to manage wildlife, ranching, mining and 
renewable energy efforts in the State. 
  
Our hope is to have a more aggressive and effective annual program in Nevada. 
The agency feels collateral duties cannot be added to existing employees. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
Is the expectation that the partners identified for this program would provide the 
funding in future biennia? 
 
MR. PULLIAM: 
That is correct. Our request is for initial funding. Future discussions with our 
partners will include cost-sharing efforts. 
 
To quote Mr. Allan Biaggi, Director, Department of Agriculture, in recent 
testimony, “The war on cheatgrass, like many other wars, will not be over in 
two years.” We are confident there is an appetite for cost sharing to fund the 
requested position into the future. 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN GOICOECHEA: 
How much Q1 Bond revenue is still available? 
 
MR. PULLIAM: 
Approximately $6 million in bonds remain to be sold. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We will close the hearing on B/A 101-4456 and open the hearing on 
B/A 101-4454, the Trout Stamp Program. 
 
Wildlife - Trout Stamp Program – Budget Page WILDLIFE-24 (Volume III) 
Budget Account 101-4454 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
Proceeds from the sale of trout stamps are used in conjunction with federal 
Sport Fish Restoration Grant Funds to repay the bond indebtedness associated 
with the NDOW hatchery refurbishment projects. The Executive Summary is on 
page 48 of Exhibit C. Pages 49 and 50 contain the analysis of revenue and 
expenditures. Decision unit E-250 is the only request in this budget account. It 
is a request to fund the maintenance of hatcheries and routine miscellaneous 
repairs. 
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E-250 Working Environment and Wage – Page WILDLIFE-25 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
There are no major issues in this budget. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
What is a raceway? 
 
RICHARD L. HASKINS II (Deputy Director, Department of Wildlife): 
A raceway is a concrete structure in which fish are raised. It is a long trough 
with water entering at one end and exiting at the other end. It is basically a pen. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We will close the hearing on B/A 101-4454 and open the hearing on 
B/A 101-4458, the Obligated Reserve. 
 
Wildlife - Obligated Reserve – Budget Page WILDLIFE-27 (Volume III) 
Budget Account 101-4458 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
These funds must be utilized solely for their intended purposes. 
Pages 53 through 55 of Exhibit C describe the programs in greater detail. 
Page 56 is the Executive Summary. Pages 57 and 58 contain the revenue and 
expenditure analyses. Page 59 contains the three decision unit requests. 
 
Decision unit E-251 is a request for funds to increase travel to administer the 
Interstate Wildlife Violator Compact for the Operation Game Thief Program. 
 
E-251 Working Environment and Wage – Page WILDLIFE-29 
 
Decision unit E-720 is a request for new equipment. The request will fund a 
thermal image tracker and a vehicle tracker to enhance law enforcement 
activities for the Operation Game Thief Program. 
  
E-720 New Equipment – Page WILDLIFE-30 
 
Decision unit E-901 is the request to transfer the Water Development Program 
from the Obligated Reserve to the Administration budget account. It is the 
opposite side of the decision unit discussed under B/A 101-4452. 
 
E-901 Trans Water Dev from Obligated Reserve to Admin – Page WILDLIFE-31 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
In earlier discussions, the Subcommittee suggested the Department place its 
purchase requests in the Executive Budget. In the case of the Obligated Reserve 
budget account, we want the NDOW to bring the requests before the IFC or 
identify what programs are specified. 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
To which projects are you referring? 
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CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
We are talking about the Upland Game Bird Program and Wildlife Mining 
assessments in the Base Budget. This is the Board of Wildlife Commissioner’s 
approval of projects during the 2009-2011 biennium. The budget indicates 
these projects, which are budgeted from dedicated fees and assessments, 
complete habitat studies. Improvements have not been specifically identified. 
The Subcommittee prefers the agency to wait until projects are specifically 
identified and then bring the proposal to the IFC. 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
The NDOW position is the same as the issues we face in all our budget 
accounts. We know there will be projects in the upcoming biennium. The 
projects will need approval of the Commission. It is a matter of having the 
authority available and requesting approval from the Commission or to have the 
projects presented in a work program and then go before the Commission to 
request project authority. The Department awaits the pleasure of the 
Legislature. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Is it an issue of timing? 
 
MR. PULLIAM: 
Every year we sell Duck and Upland Game stamps. We have an internal process 
for field projects to be submitted. The Duck and Upland Game Program funding 
requires Commission approval of the projects. The projects are an annual and 
ongoing part of the program. Typically, we request project approval from the 
Commission in June and begin implementation in July. If we have to wait until 
September for IFC approval, we would be behind the eight ball in terms of the 
summer season and staff in the field to complete the projects. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
Please explain the purpose of the Interstate Wildlife Violator Compact. Which 
states are members of the Compact? 
 
MR. BUONAMICI: 
The Interstate Wildlife Violator Compact began in the late 1980s or 1990s. It is 
similar to the drivers’ license compact. If someone’s hunting or fishing licenses 
are revoked in one state, they are revoked in all states that are members of the 
Compact. There are currently 33 member states. Geographically, they cover 
approximately 80 percent of the United States. Five or six states have pending 
or recently passed legislation authorizing memberships. 
 
The $21,660 request in each year of the 2009-2011 biennium will be used for 
the Major Wildlife Crimes Program which began in 2008. Poaching is occurring 
on a larger scale than the Department has the ability to address through routine 
patrols and investigations. 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN GOICOECHEA: 
What are the eight vehicle-tracking devices requested? Is this a device to be 
placed on a suspect vehicle? 
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MR. BUONAMICI: 
That is correct. The devices have a dual purpose. One is for suspect vehicles, to 
track them when they commit an illegal activity. The other is for our vehicles. 
When officers are operating in an undercover capacity, it is a safety issue. It 
allows us to track the officers when they are in the field with the criminal. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
How will the expenses for the Water Development Program be tracked for 
future planning? 
 
MR. PRATHER: 
The Water Development Program will have its own organization and 
suborganization categories. I believe the question from the LCB is why the 
program did not maintain its own separate category as it has in the Obligated 
Reserve Account.  
 
This program is a part of the Habitat Program. We intend to move it into the 
Habitat Division expenditure categories and it will assume its own organization 
and suborganization numbers for tracking program expenditures. It is consistent 
with the other internal accounting processes. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We will now close the hearing on the Department of Wildlife and open the 
hearing on the Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT), B/A 201-4663, 
Bond Construction. Our staff will review documents provided to the 
Subcommittee. 
 
TRANSPORTATION 
 
NDOT, Bond Construction – Budget Page NDOT-1 (Volume III) 
Budget Account 201-4463 
 
MARK KRMPOTIC (Senior Program Analyst, Fiscal Division, Legislative Counsel 

Bureau); 
The documents I have provided are recently received budget amendments from 
the Budget Division regarding the Transportation Administration account. 
 
Budget amendment A00051 is Exhibit D. This amendment increases the capital 
construction category by approximately $22 million in FY 2009-2010 and by 
$40,000 in FY 2010-2011.  
 
Budget amendment A00056 is Exhibit E. This amendment identifies funding the 
State anticipates receiving from the ARRA. The Budget Division proposes to add 
$125 million in FY 2009-2010 and approximately $66 million in FY 2010-2011 
as an amendment to the Executive Budget.  
 
Staff would advise the Subcommittee it appears the agency will be approaching 
the IFC to add approximately $10 million in FY 2008-2009 for anticipated 
stimulus funding to be spent. 
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SUSAN G. MARTINOVICH, P.E. (Director, Nevada Department of Transportation): 
I will provide the Subcommittee with background on the bond section of 
B/A 201-4663. 
 
Since 2000, the NDOT has sold over $1 billion in bonds. We identified several 
major projects within the State. They included U.S. Highway 95; the West Lake 
project widening the highway from two lanes to three and four lanes; 
Frank Sinatra Boulevard; widening the Interstate-15 (I-15) corridor south of 
Las Vegas; the Carson City freeway; the Interstate-580 (I-580) freeway and 
funding toward the Hoover Dam project currently under construction.  
 
The NDOT feels the bonding was appropriate and timely because the projects 
were accomplished with good interest rates. The projects were on the streets 
prior to the large increase in construction inflation costs.  
 
The last bond was sold in April 2008. The bonds were sold in increments 
ranging from approximately $200 million to approximately $135 million. 
Approximately $20 million remains to be spent from bond sales.  
 
The NDOT plans no further bond sales. The revenue and the bond expenditures 
to repay the bonds are tight. We are at a high point in bond reimbursement of 
approximately $90 million to $100 million over the next few years. At that 
point, some of the earlier bonds will be repaid. 
  
The NDOT is watching our cash flow closely. When the allocations from 
Assembly Bill (A.B.) No. 595 of the 74th Session begin, we will consider future 
opportunities for bonding against that revenue. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
I am concerned the NDOT is not requesting new bonding authority which 
translates into no new construction. The ARRA funding cannot be depended 
upon for highway construction. Is it because the State has insufficient gas-tax 
revenue? If so, what is the NDOT proposal for increasing the gas-tax revenue? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
There is insufficient anticipated revenue from the current revenue sources to 
issue further bonds. The bond repayments of approximately $100 million each 
year leave the NDOT thin for project development. I do not want to obligate this 
State to pay bonding far into the future when there are immediate cash-flow 
needs that must be addressed. 
 
We are utilizing various mechanisms to generate revenue. Revenue received 
from the rental-car and property-tax provisions of A.B. No. 595 of the 
74th Session will have the potential to generate revenue. We will move forward 
with projects identified and bond against that revenue source. 
  
SENATOR COFFIN: 
You keep saying “under the current revenue sources.” However, two years ago, 
the administration opposed changing the tax structure to increase the Highway 
Fund. I have seen no proposed legislation this Session requesting establishment 
of additional funding sources. How much funding would be needed for projected 
needs? 
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MS. MARTINOVICH: 
For the next 5 to 15 years, we are $5 billion to $6 billion short of what is 
needed for highway capacity. There is approximately $600 million or more for 
preservation efforts to maintain existing infrastructure. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
Has the administration any plan to create the necessary funding for highway 
needs? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
There is pending legislation for the proposed demonstration project. The 
legislation would allow public/private partnerships and authority to charge toll 
fees. It would provide additional capacity on the I-15/U.S. Highway 95 corridor. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
Does the NDOT see a Constitutional problem with that proposal? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
I met with our staff from the Office of the Attorney General and the legal staff 
of the LCB yesterday. There is no constitutional issue with the proposed 
legislation. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
That legislation appears to address a single purpose. It is not a general funding 
source for statewide construction. 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
You are correct. There are no other items being brought forward at this time of 
which I am aware. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
Does the administration support anything to alleviate the funding situation? Are 
you aware of any proposed legislation to change the fuel-tax structure? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
There is no proposed legislation to that effect. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
Will the Governor support additional funding to allow bonding to move the 
NDOT projects forward? How much was the State down in funding two years 
ago? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
The figure we used was $3.6 billion. Inflation and delays increase the needs. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
Has the Board of Transportation met and discussed this issue? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
The Board is aware of the challenges and they were in support of moving 
forward with the public/private partnership initiatives. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN GOICOECHEA: 
When will the NDOT begin retiring the bonds? What amount of revenue will be 
cleared when that is complete? 
 
ROBERT D. CHISEL (Assistant Director, Administration, Nevada Department of 

Transportation): 
The bond issued in 2000 was a ten-year bond. It will be fully paid in 
FY 2010-2011 which will reduce the bond payments by approximately 
$8 million through FY 2011-2012 and FY 2012-2013. Then, the next bond will 
be repaid. By 2015, the bond payments will be down to approximately 
$61 million. Bond payments require appropriate coverage ratios be maintained 
between bond payments to gas-tax revenues. With the declining 
gas-tax revenues, there are concerns bond ratings may change as a result of the 
current economic situation. 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN GOICOECHEA: 
In other words, it will be 2011 before any relief is felt for bond indebtedness. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We will close the hearing on B/A 201-4663 and open the hearing on 
B/A 201-4660, Transportation Administration. 
 
Transportation Administration – Budget Page NDOT-3 (Volume III) 
Budget Account 201-4660 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
I have provided a document to the Subcommittee with specifics of my 
testimony (Exhibit F). The NDOT budget is developed to end on June 30, 2009, 
with a minimum balance in the Highway Fund of $100 million. That amount was 
chosen to ensure the NDOT has the ability to shut down projects in a safe 
condition should revenue streams end. The overall two-year budget is 
$1.2 billion. 
 
The NDOT revenue sources are from the State fuel tax, the federal fuel tax, 
county taxes, the Department of Motor Vehicle (DMV) fees and bond receipts. 
We are not the only agency that uses revenue from the Highway Fund. Other 
users include the DMV, the Department of Public Safety, the Department of 
Information Technology (DoIT), the LCB and the Transportation Services 
Authority.  
 
The basic expenditures of the NDOT are travel and per diem. We are a 
statewide agency with work crews and staff travel. The operation expenditures 
focus on pavement preservation. The term “operations,” as used by the NDOT, 
is the work done by maintenance crews, the strategies, the tools, the signing, 
chip seals and other general maintenance items. 
 
Other expenditures include equipment as well as input and outlay toward other 
features. Our primary business is streets and highways. However, we receive 
federal grants to fund the areas of federal transit, railroads, aviation and bike 
and pedestrian planning efforts. 
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The majority of our business and our expenditures are in the capital program. 
Federal funding is specifically categorized. While we receive approximately 
$235 million, a certain amount must be spent for maintenance, bridges and 
safety for each project. The funds are also used for right-of-way acquisitions 
and design consultants. The capital program also pays for projects that are 
currently underway. Our program is lean for the next two years. 
 
We are working with the LCB staff to identify actual funding expenditures. 
Ultimately, when the Highway Fund revenue is received, it primarily affects the 
capital program. 
 
The challenge for the NDOT, is that to receive federal funds, we must spend 
federal funds. For the next two years our intent is to ensure we maintain 
sufficient funding in the capital program to receive the maximum in federal 
funding, to pay for projects currently underway and the Maintenance of Effort 
(MOE) requirements to receive the ARRA funding. 
 
The NDOT has received $201 million in the ARRA funding. The first project 
under that federal legislation was advertised on March 19, 2009. We intend to 
meet all compliance issues to receive the federal funding. We have not received 
the federal 2009 appropriations for the next six months. The continuing 
resolution bill expired in March 2009. We are waiting for the federal Omnibus 
bill to fund federal government. A part of that funding is our allocation. 
 
The current transportation bill, Title XXIII, SAFTEA-LU, expires in 
September 2009. After the previous bill expired, it took two years for Nevada to 
receive further funding. We have based our budget on the 2009 allocation from 
the continuing resolution. As a result, the NDOT will likely need to appear 
before the IFC as further funding and information are received. 
 
Decision unit M-101 is the request for inflation to the cost of road maintenance 
materials for preservation. We have been receiving good bids which have 
allowed us to accomplish other projects. This is related to the NDOT cost for 
materials. It includes brine used for icy roadways and asphalt to fill roadway 
shoulders. Costs have increased. We anticipate short supplies of the materials 
due to the influx of new projects in all states using the ARRA funding. We are 
requesting approximately $8.6 million over the next two years. 
 
M-101 Inflation – Agency Specific – Page NDOT-5 
 
Decision units E-225 and E-908 are requests for the server consolidations. We 
are working with the DoIT as a part of the Governor’s initiatives to reduce 
duplication of efforts. The NDOT will be downsizing its number of servers while 
ensuring the NDOT needs are met. We have a complicated business with a large 
amount of paperwork. We will transfer two positions to the DoIT to assist in the 
consolidation and will pay the DoIT for its efforts to consolidate the business 
practices to meet the NDOT standards. 
 
E-225 Eliminate Duplicate Effort – Page NDOT-6   
 
E-908 Trans from Transportation to Info Technology – Page NDOT-11 
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Decision E-251 is a request to convert temporary positions to permanent 
positions. There are more than 600 positions in the 6-month temporary 
positions category. Many of the positions are responsible for snow plowing in 
northern Nevada and assistance in the summertime functions. The NDOT is 
continually filling those temporary positions which I do not feel is correct. 
 
The proposal is to take approximately 60 of the 6-month temporary positions 
and reclassify them into 23 full-time positions. The permanent positions will fill 
the greatest areas of need. Those include roadway information within the NDOT 
districts where they provide customer service and permit functions. There is a 
savings with this request. It consolidates positions and lessens the training 
efforts each time a position is filled. The NDOT does not intend to come back to 
the Legislature to request additional temporary positions to replace these 
positions. 
 
E-251 Working Environment and Wage – Page NDOT-6 
 
Decision unit E-586 concerns the electronic bidding process. It would provide 
consistency across State lines for bidding practices. Other states allow 
electronic bidding for their contractors. While there is a cost of approximately 
$2 million over the biennium, there is a savings in administration costs and in 
bidding errors. This request will streamline the process. 
 
E-586 Technology Invest: Maximize Internet & Technology – Page NDOT-7 
 
Decision unit E-710 is the request for mobile and fleet equipment. In 
FY 2008-2009 the NDOT received approval for $19.9 million in equipment 
which will be utilized. For the 2009-2011 biennium requests, the NDOT 
reevaluated the process and criteria for new equipment requests. In the past, 
once a piece of equipment reached a certain mileage, we would automatically 
request new equipment. As the director, I did not feel that was appropriate, nor 
did our team. We considered whether a piece of equipment recently had 
expensive repairs made and whether it should be replaced before the value of 
the repairs is utilized. 
 
The NDOT is not requesting any new or replacement equipment. The original 
agency request for the next biennium was reduced by 50 percent. We have 
worked with the Purchasing Division to revamp our specifications to bid for 
better new equipment. 
 
E-710 Replacement Equipment – Page NDOT-9 
 
Decision unit E-720 contains the request for miscellaneous equipment such as a 
universal testing machine and a dynamic shearometer for testing asphalts and 
materials in the laboratory for quality control. 
 
Sweepers are also being requested. However, the NDOT will be reimbursed 
through the federal Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Improvement Program 
for the sweepers.  
 
E-720 New Equipment – Page NDOT-9 
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Decision unit E-730 is a request for NDOT facilities that need at least a 
minimum of upkeep. Some of the buildings are quite old. The building in Wells 
will be modified due to the Wells earthquake on February 21, 2008. In other 
areas, there are buildings with limited space and others are falling apart. We 
maintain a budget of approximately $5 million for staff safety in the general 
maintenance category. The NDOT reduced their original request from 
$39 million to $5 million. 
 
E-730 Maintenance of Buildings and Grounds – Page NDOT-10 
 
Decision unit E-806 requests the reclassification of an existing vacant position 
to an unclassified civil rights officer. The individual will manage and coordinate 
our internal and external contracts for civil rights compliance. The position will 
be located in Las Vegas, the area of primary need. The position will report to 
the director, or either of the deputy directors in Las Vegas, or our chief engineer 
deputy director in northern Nevada. 
  
I intend the position to be unclassified. An appropriate person is needed in this 
position. They will be expected to follow through, track federal legislation and 
work well with people. The position cost will increase by approximately 
$44,000 over the biennium because of the differences between a classified 
position and an unclassified position.   
 
E-806 Unclassified Position Salary Increases – Page NDOT-10 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
I am concerned about the balance in the Highway Fund. In your testimony, you 
stated you would “try to keep $100 million” in that account. Is it your plan to 
reduce the number of projects? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
Yes, projects will be reduced because other budget areas are rather lean. I am 
holding certain positions vacant. We must cut the capital program to retain the 
$100 million. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Is it true that none of capital programs utilizing the ARRA funding may be cut? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
No, we cannot. That is the Maintenance of Effort requirements. We have 
alternate plans in place for some changes in circumstances. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
If fuel-tax revenues continue to decline, that will create further problems. 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
There has been a downward trend in fuel taxes since November 2008. During 
the past month, things are beginning to look slightly improved. We are not sure 
whether that is an anomaly at this point. We will watch it closely. The ARRA 
funding may help the situation. 
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CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
The impact of this economic situation is huge. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
There must be a change made in the way highways are funded. I appreciate the 
NDOT’s updated cost allocation study. It confirms that a shift in taxation must 
be made. This is not a new problem. Heavy vehicles cause most of the damage 
to roadways and the motorists are subsidizing those costs. 
 
Subcommittee, we have all the data needed to begin to make a shift, even 
during this Legislative Session. 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
The NDOT is conducting the Vehicle Miles Traveled Study. It will identify a 
different method to allocate funds from highway users. We are researching 
when people drive, where they drive, how much they drive and the type of 
vehicle they drive.  
 
More and more vehicles are increasingly fuel efficient. That is good for the 
economy and the environment; however, those vehicles are still taking up space 
and congesting the streets and highways. It is my hope that legislation can be 
proposed in the 2009 Legislative Session to initiate a pilot project. That process 
is also being considered nationally. It is important for Nevada to complete its 
own research before that time. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
The issue will need to be forced at some point. The NDOT needs to explain 
what is needed in terms of projects that need funding. Tell us how much fuel 
tax that would require. 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
We will provide that information. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
It appears truckers are finally willing to pay a higher fuel tax. The Legislature 
needs to know what actual needs exist. We need to move more quickly. 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
The NDOT has completed an analysis on project timing, what is needed for 
bond repayments and revenue sources. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
It would be good to quiet public fears over the vehicle miles travelled concept. 
I hope the process does not require a Global Positioning System component. 
I would rather see odometer and vehicle weight requirements. 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
One school of thought is individuals should pay more if they routinely travel on 
a congested road than if they drive on a less congested road. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
I do not believe the residents of Nevada will tolerate congestion pricing. 
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MS. MARTINOVICH: 
I understand. We are considering a phased approach. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
How reliable are the federal funding levels included in the Executive Budget? 
What will happen if the U.S. Congress chooses to reduce the 
federal-aid highway funding program to maintain the solvency of the federal 
Highway Trust Fund? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
They are quite reliable. When there were economic concerns for the federal 
Highway Trust Fund, prompt action was taken to supplement the 
Highway Trust Fund with the General Fund. A transfer of $8 billion was made 
to the Highway Trust Fund. I am confident, through my national involvement, 
that public works and the Highway Trust Fund are recognized as a core issue. 
Funding has always been provided to maintain the balance in the Fund. The 
NDOT may not receive an increase, but we are maintaining a flat revenue 
allocation. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
When will revenue allocations begin from the provisions of A.B. No. 595 of the 
74th Session? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
We have received approximately $3 million from the car rental provisions. 
Funding for certain provisions was not to begin until FY 2008-2009. However, 
the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors’ Authority (LVCVA) has been up front 
with their contributions. They have contributed $25 million toward the current 
I-15 project. I will appear before their board in April to request approval for 
another $240 million to complete their obligation under the legislation. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Will they bond for the $25 million? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
That is correct. It would provide a portion of the funding for the I-15 South 
project from Tropicana through Blue Diamond to the Las Vegas Valley. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
What kinds of benefits have been experienced by other states which utilize the 
electronic bidding process? It appears to make sense. 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
We have worked with the Nevada contractor community. Some contractors are 
in support and others are not. We found it helps to reduce errors in unit prices 
and helps streamline the process. That has been the report from other states as 
well.  
 
Many contractors do not operate only in Nevada. As an example, 
Granite Construction, Inc., operates in Nevada, California and Arizona. The 
electronic process would provide consistency. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN HOGAN: 
What is the amount of burden placed on the contractor community, particularly 
subcontractors, in conforming to the requirements to compete and transmit their 
bids with the electronic bid process? 
 
MR. CHISEL: 
There are a number of systems used by a variety of departments of 
transportation. The cost will be between $25 and $50 annually to register if the 
State pushes the cost to the contractor. Some states absorb that cost. Nevada, 
as do other states, would continue to allow paper bids. If a company is small or 
has no computer access, they could still use a manual bid process. Our hope is 
that more contractors would embrace the electronic bidding process. We would 
receive better, more accurate bids through the electronic process. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
What happens to the ARRA funding if the MOE requirements are not met? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
We would receive a certain amount of the funding, but it may have to be repaid. 
We were conservative in our MOE specifications. Also, the NDOT could not 
participate in the redistribution process. After all states have made their 
budgeted expenditures, any remaining revenue is returned to the federal 
government and it is redistributed to other states that qualify. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Nevadans pay federal fuel taxes. How much of that tax is returned to Nevada in 
the form of transportation funds? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
In the direct formula; it is about 1:1. However, the earmarks are good for 
Nevada. Our Congressional delegation worked together and Nevada has 
received more revenue than what was collected. The earmarked projects were 
already on the NDOT priority list. 
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
How cost effective is it to maintain the 20-year-old Cessna aircraft with 
maintenance requested in decision unit E-735? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
It is cost effective. 
 
MR. CHISEL: 
Each fiscal year we analyze the cost of the aircraft compared to the cost of 
commercial air travel. It is cost effective to utilize the private plane when the 
cost of employee time is calculated, particularly for trips to Las Vegas. It saves 
approximately $200 for each person. Time is saved in the security process and 
renting a Motor Pool vehicle. For trips to Elko, Ely, Tonopah or some of the 
other locations, there is no alternative. Driving distances are lengthy to those 
areas. The aircraft is also utilized by other State agencies. The most recent 
example was the Wells earthquake. The aircraft transported goods and workers 
into the earthquake area. 
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E-735 Airplane Maintenance – Page NDOT-10 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
The largest expense is the aircraft inspections. Who performs those inspections? 
 
MR. CHISEL: 
The Cessna Citation aircraft is inspected by the Cessna Citation Service Center 
in Sacramento, California. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Do they inspect the aircraft and perform any necessary maintenance? 
 
MR. CHISEL: 
That is correct. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Would it be cheaper to hire an aircraft mechanic? 
 
MR. CHISEL: 
The service center employs many individuals who specialize in different areas of 
maintenance such as the engine, electronics and body and structure specialists. 
It would be difficult for us to maintain a parts and equipment supply and 
perform the maintenance. 
 
Much of the routine maintenance and service is performed by El Aero Services, 
Incorporated in Carson City. There are certain requirements they do not have 
the equipment or facilities to perform. Last year the aircraft went to Scottsdale, 
Arizona for maintenance. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
What would it cost to purchase a new aircraft with warranty provisions? 
 
MR. CHISEL: 
A new Cessna Citation, comparable to the current aircraft, would cost 
approximately $8.5 million to $9 million. It would seat two more people. 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
Our current aircraft would have a high-salvage value. 
 
CHAIR MCCLAIN: 
Could the current aircraft be traded in for a new one? 
 
MR. CHISEL: 
The Cessna Citation is worth approximately $1.5 million to $2 million. Aircraft 
do not depreciate in the same manner as automobiles. The Commander aircraft 
is worth approximately $750,000, even in the current soft market.  
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
The purchase of the Cessna Citation was authorized in 1987. 
Former U.S. Senator Richard H. Bryan ran against Mr. Chic Hecht in 1988 and 
nearly lost the election over the purchase of the jet airplane. The plane is over 
20 years old. It must be nearing the end of its usefulness for the State. 
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MS. MARTINOVICH: 
I was willing to request a new aircraft during the budget preparation process for 
that reason. I did not want to jeopardize any users of the aircraft.  Because of 
the economic situation, after speaking with Mr. Chisel and the manufacturer, it 
was decided the aircraft would be safe to use for a couple of more years. 
 
SENATOR COFFIN: 
At some point, the resale value begins to curve downward as do safety factors. 
That must be considered. The agency must be proactive. What is the capacity 
of the Cessna Citation? 
 
MR. CHISEL: 
The aircraft has nine passenger seats; however, the ninth seat is not as 
comfortable. Eight passengers would be more appropriate. 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN HOGAN: 
When a new aircraft is contemplated, it would be helpful to sell the concept by 
being prepared to discuss the scheduling efforts to fill the airplane to capacity. 
Is a schedule provided to other agencies advertising when a flight may be 
available? 
 
MS. MARTINOVICH: 
We have the answers to those concerns and will be prepared to respond when a 
new aircraft request is made. 
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CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
Seeing no further business before the Subcommittee, this meeting is adjourned 
at 9:52 a.m. 
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